### Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 72904-7-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

JON DEL DUCA,

Appellant.

### ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Mary Roberts, Judge

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

DAVID B. KOCH Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

###

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Appellant was denied his constitutional right to the assistance of counsel.

2. The trial court erred when it failed to decide appellant's post-trial motions to reverse his convictions.

3. The trial court erred when it used a flawed reasonable doubt instruction that violated due process and the right to trial by jury.

#### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. The federal and state constitutions guarantee the assistance of counsel in criminal cases. Under limited circumstances, this right can be waived or forfeited. Appellant did not waive the right, repeatedly and consistently demanding counsel's help. The trial court, however, found that appellant forfeited counsel because he disagreed with his attorney's assessment of the case and was likely to disagree with any appointed attorney. Where forfeiture requires a defendant's "extremely serious misconduct," and appellant did not engage in any misconduct, did the trial court deny appellant his constitutional right to counsel?

-1-

2. Prior to sentencing, appellant moved for reversal of his convictions on multiple grounds. The trial court heard argument on the claims and indicated it would issue a ruling. It never has. Should this case be remanded for a ruling on the claims?

3. The reasonable doubt instruction used at appellant's trial states, "a reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists." Does this misstate the burden of proof, undermine the presumption of innocence, and improperly create a burden on the defendant to provide a reason for why reasonable doubt exists?

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. <u>The Charges</u>

In February 2012, the King County Prosecutor's Office charged Jon Del Duca with (count 1) Rape of a Child in the First Degree and (count 2) Child Molestation in the Second Degree, alleging that between January 1, 2001 and May 31, 2002, he committed the offenses against C.M., who was less than 12 years old at the time. CP 1-2. The case had originally been investigated and charges filed in 2005, but those charges were subsequently dismissed without prejudice. CP 3-6.

The Honorable Mary Roberts was assigned to Del Duca's case. CP 212. As discussed in detail below, over Del Duca's

-2-

repeated objections, Judge Roberts forced Del Duca to proceed without the assistance of counsel, ruling that he had forfeited his right to that assistance. CP 260.

#### 2. Del Duca Is Denied A Lawyer

By the time charges against Del Duca were refiled in this matter, Del Duca was facing criminal charges in a second King County case – case no. 11-1-02184-6 KNT. CP 3. Attorney Brian Beattie already represented Del Duca in the 2011 case and he also was appointed in this case. Supp. CP \_\_\_\_ (sub no. 4, Notice of Appearance); 2RP<sup>1</sup> 12.

Del Duca was not pleased. On April 3, 2012, the Honorable Beth Andrus heard Del Duca's motion to discharge Beattie in both cases. 1RP 2-3. Del Duca felt that Beattie was not fulfilling his constitutional obligations because he refused to raise certain issues and conduct investigations Del Duca deemed critical. 1RP 3-6.

This brief refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: 1RP - 4/3/12; 2RP - 4/27/12; 3RP - 5/4/12; 4RP - 6/21/12; 5RP - 9/6/12; 6RP - 9/20/12; 7RP - 9/25/12; 8RP - 5/7/13; 9RP - 5/10/13; 10RP - 6/14/13; 11RP - 7/26/13; 12RP - 8/23/13; 13RP - 9/6/13; 14RP - 9/19/13; 15RP - 9/25/13; 16RP - 11/21/13; 17RP - 1/9/14; 18RP - 1/27/14; 19RP - 2/7/14; 20RP - 2/13/14; 21RP - 2/27/14; 22RP - 3/10/14; 23RP - 4/17/14; 24RP - 5/5/14; 25RP - 5/21/14; 26RP - 5/23/14; 27RP - 6/20/14; 28RP - 7/3/14; 29RP - 7/29/14; 30RP - 8/11/14; 31RP - 8/25/14; 32RP - 9/23/14; 33RP - 9/30/14; 34RP - 10/1/14; 35RP - 10/2/14; 36RP - 10/6/14; 37RP - 10/7/14; 38RP - 10/8/14; 39RP - 10/9/14; 40RP - 10/13/14; 41RP - 10/14/14; 42RP - 10/15/14; 43RP - 10/16/14; 44RP - 10/20/14; 45RP - 10/21/14; 46RP - 10/22/14; 47RP - 11/3/14; 48RP - 11/4/14; 49RP - 11/5/14; 50RP - 12/29/14; 51RP - 1/9/15.

When Judge Andrus denied the motion, Del Duca responded, "[t]hen I have to go pro se." 1RP 4. Judge Andrus indicated Del Duca should carefully contemplate the consequences of proceeding without counsel and, should he decide to go pro se, he would have to file a written motion requesting that status. 1RP 4-5, 7.

On April 27, 2012, Judge Roberts considered several arguments Del Duca made without counsel, including challenges to his current charges and issues concerning the circumstances of his confinement in the King County Jail. 2RP 12-50; CP 170-184. Del Duca made it clear he was not seeking to represent himself generally; only for the purpose of these particular arguments. CP 67. In his motions, Del Duca complained again about Beattie's representation specifically and public defenders generally, arguing they were county employees, not independent, and working for the state. 2RP 22-24; CP 174-183. Judge Roberts denied the motions and indicated counsel had to file any future motions. CP 508-511.

The parties appeared again on May 4, 2012, at which time Beattie and the prosecutor updated Judge Roberts on progress in both cases, and trial was continued. 3RP 3-4; Supp. CP \_\_\_\_ (sub no. 26, Order Continuing Trial).

-4-

On June 21, 2012, Del Duca again moved to discharge Beattie in his cases, citing Beattie's continuing refusal to do what was necessary for Del Duca's defense. 4RP 3-7. When Judge Roberts noted that this motion had previously been denied, Del Duca responded, "Well, he's not my attorney. Okay. I will have to go it alone with what we've got." 4RP 7. Judge Roberts again denied the motion to discharge Beattie and indicated that, if Del Duca decided to represent himself, he could bring an appropriate motion and the matter could be placed on the calendar. 4RP 7-8. When Judge Roberts claimed that Del Duca had, in the past, intimated he might want to represent himself, Del Duca denied this and Judge Roberts then agreed, noting that he had previously said he did not want to represent himself. 4RP 8. Del Duca reiterated, "I'm demanding assistance in my defense ... per the constitution." 4RP 8.

By the time the parties met again on the 2012 case – September 6, 2012 – Del Duca had been tried and convicted of child molestation in the 2011 case. 5RP 3. Beattie informed Judge Roberts that Del Duca was unhappy with his services in both cases and requesting new counsel for trial in the 2012 case and for sentencing in the 2011 case. 5RP 4. Del Duca asked for the appointment of an attorney willing to work with him, represent his

-5-

interests, and act on his input. 5RP 4-10. Judge Roberts denied the motion to replace Beattie, noting that she did not think Del Duca would be satisfied with any attorney. 5RP 12.

The relationship between Beattie and Del Duca did not improve and, on September 20, 2012, Judge Roberts again addressed a motion to replace Beattie with new counsel. 6RP 55. Judge Roberts indicated she was now inclined to replace Beattie, and Del Duca responded that he did not want another public defender. 6RP 56. Del Duca indicated he was being pushed toward having to defend himself without an attorney willing to assist him and willing to give him "major say" in the case. 6RP 58-59. He made it clear, however, he did not want to go pro se. 6RP 59. But if he were forced to go pro se, he would need someone to assist him with the process or an attorney to act as standby counsel. 6RP 59-60. Judge Roberts indicated there would be no standby counsel. 6RP 60. She then began a colloguy with Del Duca designed to ensure he was knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waiving his right to counsel for trial. 6RP 63-70. After Del Duca explained that he had no legal training and indicated his need for counsel, Judge Roberts found that he had not made an unequivocal request to go pro se and instead appointed new counsel. 6RP 70; CP 11.

-6-

Thereafter, several attorneys from the Defender Association briefly represented Del Duca. Initially, it was attorney Rick Lichtenstadter. 7RP 74. Lichtenstadter was replaced by attorney Carey Huffman, and Huffman was replaced by attorney John Ewers. CP 206-208.

Del Duca became disenchanted with Ewers and, on May 7, 2013, moved to discharge him from the case. 8RP 3. He complained that the appointed attorneys were not pursuing relevant issues and evidence in his case and that they were excluding his participation. 8RP 3-7. Del Duca demanded counsel who would fully assist him with his defense. 8RP 8. He was unable to hire his own attorney, but the public defenders were refusing to do what was necessary on his behalf. 8RP 9. Judge Cheryl Carey found no legal basis to replace Ewers and told Del Duca he could hire private counsel or represent himself. 8RP 11. She also indicated he could set another hearing on the issue. 8RP 11-12.

Three days later, Del Duca renewed his motion before Judge Roberts. 9RP 3. He reiterated the failures of his appointed attorneys to comply with his constitutional right to the assistance of counsel by rejecting his input and ignoring his claims. 9RP 3, 8-10. Judge Roberts again expressed her concern that no appointed

-7-

attorney would satisfy Del Duca. 9RP 5. Judge Roberts confirmed that Del Duca had not previously wanted to represent himself, but felt like he was being pushed into pro se status by his attorneys' failures. 9RP 11. Del Duca then explained that this situation remained because Ewers was not pursuing valid issues and he needed counsel who would do what was necessary for a proper defense. 9RP 11-25. Judge Roberts ruled that Ewers would remain as counsel. 9RP 25.

At a hearing on June 14, 2013, Ewers indicated that Del Duca wanted to renew his motion for new counsel, a motion in which Ewers joined. 10RP 3. Judge Roberts declined to hear the matter, but indicated it could be addressed at a future hearing. 10RP 3.

Judge Roberts heard Del Duca's renewed motion for new counsel on July 26, 2013. Del Duca identified multiple deficiencies in Ewers' representation, including the failure to provide legal materials he had promised to Del Duca, ignoring legal arguments, failure to explain his legal reasoning, failure to seek relevant evidence and witnesses, and failure to deal with issues involving Del Duca's incarceration at the King County Jail. 11RP 81-90. Del Duca indicated his belief that there were good public defenders available, including previous counsel Carey Huffman. 11RP 91. Judge

-8-

Roberts denied the motion to replace Ewers. 11RP 92. Del Duca expressed his dislike for Ewers, indicated he could not communicate with him, and again emphasized the need for an attorney who would do what was necessary. 11RP 95, 98-99.

Del Duca sought new counsel again on August 23, 2013. After once again airing his complaints against Ewers specifically and public defenders generally, Del Duca asked the court to replace Ewers with an attorney who would assist him and litigate the issues he believed to be meritorious. 12RP 105-131. Del Duca noted that, although he had made it clear he was seeking the assistance of counsel, Judge Roberts had continually asked him if he was seeking to go pro se, which felt like harassment and made him question her independence. 12RP 124-127. Del Duca again made it clear that he wanted the assistance of an attorney and he would only go pro se if he were forced to do so. 12RP 128-139. When Judge Roberts denied the request for new counsel. Del Duca indicated he had to go pro se. 12RP 139. Ewers then indicated that, given the break down in communication and trust, he joined in Del Duca's request that he be discharged. 12RP 139. But Judge Roberts concluded no attorney would satisfy Del Duca and maintained her decision. 12RP 142. She also told Del Duca that, because they were out of time for

-9-

the day, she would ask him at the next hearing whether he wanted to waive counsel. 12RP 143.

The next hearing was September 6, 2013. Both the prosecutor and Ewers indicated they would be ready to start trial the week of September 26. 13RP 149-152. Judge Roberts then turned to the issue of representation and asked Del Duca what he wanted to do. 13RP 152-153. Del Duca maintained his demand for counsel to assist him with his defense and indicated "public defenders are not working." 13RP 155-157. Judge Roberts replied that he had two choices: stay with Ewers or indicate that he was going to represent himself, although she believed he did not want self-representation. But Del Duca would not be permitted to have another lawyer. 13RP 157. Del Duca stated he was being forced to defend himself, but when pressed on how he wished to proceed, maintained his request under the Sixth Amendment for counsel who would represent his interests. 13RP 159-165. Judge Roberts ruled that Del Duca had not made an unequivocal request to represent himself and, instead, was simply "expressing his ongoing unhappiness with his attorney." 13RP 166. Trial was set for September 26. 13RP 166.

At an omnibus hearing on September 19, 2013, Del Duca complained about a lack of communication and trust with Ewers and

-10-

maintained there were still relevant witnesses who needed to be located and interviewed before trial. 14RP 6-7. Del Duca indicated he would not go to trial with Ewers and would now sign paperwork waiving counsel because he had no other choice. 14RP 7-12. Judge Roberts then attempted to engage in a colloquy with Del Duca to determine whether his waiver was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. 14RP 13. When it became clear Del Duca still sought different representation, Judge Roberts reiterated that Del Duca's choice was between going to trial with Ewers or self-representation. 14RP 17. Del Duca again stated that if he were to represent himself, it would be under duress. 14RP 19. He also threatened not to come to court if Ewers remained as counsel. 14RP 20.

At this point, for the first time, Judge Roberts mentioned the possibility of finding that Del Duca had forfeited his right to an attorney based on his inability to work with assigned counsel. 14RP 20-21. Del Duca refused to indicate that he wanted to represent himself and again cited his right to counsel. 14RP 23. Judge Roberts then found forfeiture:

I am finding that Mr. Del Duca has forfeited his right to counsel, and I will allow him to go forward without an attorney even though he has not made a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver of his right to counsel, but that he has forfeited it by his conduct and

-11-

by refusing to work with any attorney who has been appointed by the Court. . . .

14RP 24. Judge Roberts filed a consistent written order. CP 260.

Uncertain of her legal footing, Judge Roberts indicated that if either the prosecutor or Ewers believed something more was required to support forfeiture, they could set the matter for a hearing. 14RP 25-26. She also ordered both counsel present for the next hearing, September 25, in case forfeiture were addressed. 14RP 31.

At the hearing on September 25, Judge Roberts noted that she had provided a "waiver of counsel form" to the parties, which apparently was a standard waiver form with some additional language added. 15RP 3. Judge Roberts then asked Del Duca whether "it is still your desire to represent yourself, given that the only other choice at this point is to have Mr. Ewers as your counsel." 15RP 3. After Del Duca responded this was not much of a choice, Judge Roberts asked him to look at the proposed waiver form and indicate whether it was something he was willing to sign. 15RP 3-4.

Del Duca indicated he would not sign away his constitutional right to counsel. 15RP 5, 7. Judge Roberts then changed the title of the document from "Waiver of Counsel" to "Order On Defendant's Request to Represent Himself" and added language making it clear

-12-

that if Del Duca later changed his mind, he might be forced to continue to represent himself. 15RP 8. Judge Roberts told Del Duca that if it was his desire to represent himself, he needed to state that clearly and sign the form. 15RP 9, 11. Del Duca again said that he would not sign away his rights when what he needed was an attorney's help. 15RP 11.

Judge Roberts then indicated that she would not make Del Duca sign the proposed waiver/order. 15RP 12. Instead, she intended to modify the order to reflect her understanding of what had happened. 15RP 12. The order would indicate that Del Duca had knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily chosen to represent himself given the choice of being represented by Ewer or representing himself and his refusal to work with Ewer. 15RP 12-13, 22. No such written order was ever entered, however.

On more than one occasion thereafter, Del Duca asked Judge Roberts to explain her finding of forfeiture so that he could understand the basis for her ruling. 17RP 230; 18RP 10; 21RP 345, 358; 26RP 424-425, 453; 27RP 53; CP 307, 314. She indicated she would do so in a written ruling. 17RP 232; 18RP 10; 21RP 345, 358. She never did, however. Later, she would explain that he had forfeited his right to counsel because he would not accept Ewer's

-13-

assessment of the issues he wanted to raise and would have had the same problem with any appointed attorney. 50RP 7.

Although the parties had been on the verge of starting trial in September 2013, following the removal of counsel to assist Del Duca, the start of trial was delayed more than a year. 35RP 31. Recognizing he was not qualified to handle his own defense, over the course of that year, Del Duca repeatedly asked for the assistance of counsel or, at the very least, help from standby counsel. Judge Roberts agreed this was a very complicated case. 17RP 237. But every request was denied. See 16RP 176, 185, 187-188, 192; 17RP 230-231, 237-238, 247-248; 18RP 10, 24-25, 32; 19RP 277-280; 20RP 308-309, 311, 314-315, 319; 21RP 335, 341, 344, 346-347, 350, 358; 22RP 49, 66; 23RP 22-23; 24RP 16, 23-25; 25RP 369; 26RP 424-425, 452-453; 27RP 27, 33-35, 53, 55, 60-62, 64-65; 28RP 482; 29RP 502-503, 508, 513-515; 31RP 575-576, 579, 583, 595, 604, 623, 638-640, 652; 32RP 665, 692, 694; 33RP 10, 20-22, 38; 34RP 71, 83; 36RP 13, 46-47, 58-59, 75, 77-78; 37RP 6-7, 19; 40RP 27, 34; 43RP 14-16; 44RP 20; 45RP 15, 27, 42-45; 46RP 10; 47RP 57; CP 284-285, 289-291, 295-299, 325, 330-331, 333, 379-380, 390-391, 409-411, 413, 416-417, 425.

Del Duca had informed Judge Roberts that he had no legal

-14-

training whatsoever. 6RP 70. He filed motions for summary judgment under CR 56 and for default under CR 55. CP 261-274, 279-280, 284, 287, 292, 300, 320-321, 329-330, 376-379. He also relied on federal procedural rules, the Articles of Confederation, and what he called "legal law." 24RP 12-16; 26RP 421-422; 36RP 51-52; 37RP 16.

3. <u>Trial Testimony</u>

In February 2005, then nine-year-old C.M. claimed to an elementary school counselor that her mother's boyfriend had sexually assaulted her when she was four years old.<sup>2</sup> 42RP 30-32, 43; 44RP 74. C.M. said her mother's boyfriend was named "Jon" and people sometimes called him "the crocodile man." 42RP 38. CPS, police, and C.M.'s family were notified. 42RP 34.

By the time of this 2005 allegation, C.M. no longer lived in the same location where she claimed the abuse had occurred. 41RP 33. From approximately January of 2000 or 2001 until approximately May 2002, C.M., her older brother, and her younger sister had lived with their mother – Maria Vargas-Soto – at the Meadow Lane

-15-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> C.M.'s birthdate is March 3, 1995. 43RP 21. Thus, she would have turned four years old in 1999.

Apartments in Kent.<sup>3</sup> 41RP 21-22. Vargas-Soto's sister also shared the apartment with the family and, for about eight months, so did Vargas-Soto's boyfriend, although his name was "Juan" and not "Jon." 41RP 21-22.

Police investigating C.M.'s allegation focused on Jon Del Duca, who lived at Meadow Lane in an apartment one floor up from the unit where Vargas-Soto and her family had lived years earlier. 41RP 28-29; 44RP 63-64. Residents of the apartment complex had sometimes referred to Del Duca as "Crocodile Dundee," apparently because of a hat he wore and his appearance. 41RP 30; 44RP 33. Charges were filed against Del Duca in 2005, but they were dismissed after C.M. became hesitant to proceed and her mother decided they would not cooperate in the matter. 41RP 34-35.

The charges were refiled in 2012, and law enforcement renewed contact with the family. 41RP 35. By the time of trial, C.M. was nineteen-years-old. 43RP 21. She claimed that, while living at the Meadow Lane Apartments, she got to know Del Duca, who was friendly and would give her candy. 43RP 28-29. C.M. claimed that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Vargas-Soto was uncertain of the precise move in and move out dates, but she testified they lived in the apartment complex a little over a year sometime between January 2000 and May 2002. <u>See 41RP 21-22</u>. The period charged ran from January 1, 2001 to May 31, 2002. CP 1-2

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