NO. 72904-7-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

FILED
May 06, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

JON AMADIO DEL DUCA

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE MARY E. ROBERTS

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

JAMES M. WHISMAN Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

#

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

rule....As it stands now, I'm demanding counsel. I'm demanding to be able to defend myself." <u>Id.</u> at 131. The court said, "You want him off the case. You just want him to do what you want him to do." <u>Id.</u> The court then asked, "So if I disagree with you as to whether [Ewers is] fulfilling that role, do you have a request of me?" <u>Id.</u> Del Duca answered, "Then I have no choice other than being forced into going pro se." <u>Id.</u>

At this point, the court told Del Duca that he did not have the right to fire the lawyer because he had not hired the lawyer, the lawyer had been appointed by the court. 12RP 134-35. This statement resonated with Del Duca, and he replied, "Okay. There we go. ... I needed that information. That creates a very serious problem. ... You just said only if I hire an attorney can I discharge them?" Id. at 135. When the court confirmed this, he again said that public defenders were tools of the court: "He worked – he's a county employee, which is reimbursed by the State. He's told by his license what he can and can't do in my defense. You're backing that up ... that's where my problem with the Bench has been, okay. Because it does not show – it gives the appearance of not being independent from the State." Id. at 136. He said, "I'm demanding the chance to have counsel that will represent my

issues, not the way I say I want it done, but the issues I say, this is what my problems are. ... I need counsel. And I'm begging you. I pray." Id. at 138. The court denied his request to have Ewers removed. Id. at 139.

Del Duca then said, "Then I have to go pro se." Id. He begged more for a private attorney but the court refused. Id. at 141 ("There's not an attorney who will make you happy."). The court asked again: "Okay. So what do you want now? You're stuck with Mr. Ewers. Do you want to represent yourself." Del Duca replied, "I have no choice." Id. at 144. The hearing was then recessed because there was not sufficient time to complete the pro se inquiry.

Del Duca was steadfast at the next hearing on September 6, 2013. The court asked him to choose between Ewers and self-representation but he would not. 13RP 157, 159, 161. Del Duca persisted in saying that any choice would be made under duress. 13RP 164. The court ruled, "I am making a finding that Mr. Del Duca is not making an unequivocal request to represent himself...and instead he is just expressing his ongoing unhappiness with his attorney." 13RP 165-66. A written order of continuance was prepared which included the finding that Del Duca

had not waived his right to counsel. 13RP 167; CP 259. Del Duca remarked, "She must be Italian, from what I hear of the way Italian courts work. Damn." 13RP 167.

A hearing was held on September 19, 2013, at which final preparations for trial were discussed. 14RP 1-6.8 Del Duca told the court: "I cannot go to trial with [Ewers]. I will not go [to] trial with him, period. I mean there's no communications, I cannot trust him, I do not trust him. ... I'm going Pro Se, I will sign the paper." 14RP 7. He berated Ewers a bit longer. 14RP 7-14. The court then engaged in a colloquy to ensure that Del Duca knew what he was charged with, what the penalties were, and what plea offers had been made. Id. at 14-15. Despite saying he would be signing a waiver under protest, he agreed that "Whether it's by choice ... obviously, it's not the best choice, that's a fact. ... Usually in this circumstance is better (sic) than what I've been offered from what I can see." 14RP 17-18. When asked again whether he wanted to represent himself, Del Duca said, "I'm saying I am going to do it, I am representing myself, I am defending myself... If you're saying that that's what I have to do to get him out of here, then that's what I have to do. And I'm doing it under duress, that I am doing under

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> It was noted that Ms. Angela Kaake was going to be taking over as counsel for the State. 14RP 5.

duress, because it's not even legal." Id. at 19. The court said, "Well, if you're doing it under duress, then I won't allow it to happen." Del Duca replied, "Okay, Now....he is done. He's done. I will not come to court...." 14RP 20. The court then made an alternative finding.

I can certainly find that you have forfeited your right to have counsel, and given that no attorney has been able to satisfy you and you've had a number of excellent, hard-working, dedicated, intelligent attorneys ... assigned – let me finish – to your case, and you have essentially refused to work with them, because you disagree with their approach and it's been more than one attorney, and because of the course that this has taken over time, I'm going to talk to you about what it means to represent yourself. I'm also going to make a finding that you have forfeited your right to counsel based on the conduct so far in this case. And also because of my knowledge of the history over the last two years of your not finding a way to work with the attorneys.

14RP 20-21.

The court then reviewed the dangers of pro se status. <u>Id.</u>

Del Duca was told he would have to abide by rules and procedures and that he would not be permitted to reinstate counsel <u>Id.</u> at 21-22. He replied that he "could not accept Mr. Ewers." <u>Id.</u> at 22. He confirmed that he had little legal training. <u>Id.</u> The court yet again attempted to confirm Del Duca's intent.

Court: So, is it your desire at this point in time to represent yourself, Mr. Del Duca?

Δ: It is my desire to represent my – to defend myself per the constitution of the United States.

Court: And is it your desire to represent yourself?

Δ: It is my desire to represent my defense under the offices of the United States constitution.

Court: And is it your desire -

 $\Delta$ : And the original Washington State constitution.

Court: And is it or is it not your desire to do that without a lawyer?

 $\Delta$ : You can't make me do that. That's illegal.

Court: I can't make you do what?

Δ: You can't make me do something that is countered to (sic) the codes of conduct in the court.

Court: I don't – I'm not understanding you. I asked you a simple question, is it your – is it or is it not your desire to proceed without a lawyer? That's the question.

Δ: It is my desire ... to defend myself per the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution, and it is similar to the original 1889 section 22, is what they list it as now. Nor --- not 22, but anyway – the right to have counsel to defend myself and with counsel.

Court: Okay. So you – let's just be really clear, you don't want to go forward without an attorney –

Δ: No, I did not say that. I said, I want the original law, I want – I'm trying to defend myself –

Court: Tell me what you want.

Δ: -- with the legal law. Okay. I have a right to defend myself.

Court: Yes, you do.

Okay. I have not been afforded that right, I haven't had it. I've been told to shut up. I have nothing to do with it. Now, this is a list –

Court: Okay, so Mr. Del Duca, we are not going to keep doing this all afternoon, so –

 $\Delta$ : No.

Court: -- I am finding that Mr. Del Duca has forfeited his right to counsel, and I will allow him to go forward without an attorney even though he has indicated that to do so would be under duress. I am finding that he has not made a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver of this right to counsel, but that he has forfeited it by his conduct and by his refusing to work with any attorney who has been appointed by the Court. So, having said that Mr. Del Duca will go forward representing himself, and are you going to be ready for trial next Thursday, Mr. Del Duca...[?]

14RP 23-25. The remainder of the hearing concerned discovery and scheduling in light of the fact that Del Duca was now representing himself. The court requested that Ewers appear at the next hearing to address the forfeiture issue and "until everything is sort of wrapped up." Id. at 31. The court asked counsel for the State and Del Duca to present any additional materials that might bear on her decision. Id. at 31 ("Ms. Miyamasu, please come prepared if there's anything you think I should add.").

On Monday, September 23, 2013, the prosecutor directed the court's attention to three appellate decisions analogous to Del Duca's case, where defendants claimed that the choice between an attorney they disliked and self-representation amounted to forcing them to go pro se. Supp. CP \_\_\_\_ (Sub No.\_\_\_\_filed 5/4/16) (Appendix B).

At the next hearing, on September 25, 2013, Ewers,

Del Duca, and deputy prosecutors Miyamasu and Kaake appeared.

15RP 3. Ms. Miyamasu started the hearing by noting that "the parties have received from the Court the waiver of counsel form."

The court then discussed the form with the defendant.

Court: So, did you have an opportunity to look at the waiver of counsel for[m] that I know you've seen before and I added some language to?

 $\Delta$ : Yeah, he just handed it to me.

Court: Okay. Do you want to take a minute to look at that?

Because I'd like to know whether it's acceptable to
you, assuming that it is still your desire to represent
yourself, given that the only other choice at this point
is to have Mr. Ewers as your counsel.

Δ: Well, that's not much of a choice. It's the better of two evils, that['s] the way I see it unfortunately.<sup>9</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The transcript reads "He's" the better of two evils. However, after referring to the electronic recording of trial, counsel for Del Duca on appeal agrees that Del Duca said, "It's the better of two evils."

Court: Okay. So, could you take a minute to look at that piece of paper, and then let me know whether it is something that you're willing to sign? I think we've gone over everything in it, but I'd like to have you sign it if it's acceptable. So, can you take a minute to look at it?

Δ: Yeah, I looked at it.

Court: Okay. I [k]now you've seen it before without my hand-writing, I added a few things, do you see that?

Δ: Yeah, this is still a waiver of rights, correct?

Court: Correct.

∆: Okay. I stated what I was ... my position last week, and I still stand by that. I want to expedite this — these matters, both of them. ... They're inextricably connected. Too many common people in each. As I said last week, I'm going to have to defend myself, that's a fact. ... Because the nature of public defenders and from what I've heard, attorneys in the State of Washington because they're licensed by the State, they answer to the State first. And that's a conflict of interest.

Court: So, Mr. Del Duca, I wonder if I could get you focused back on the actual waiver.

Δ: I am. ... I'm trying to – I am not an attorney, that's a definitive. I'm not a lawyer. ... Okay, I also have problems with access to legal information. ... They kept not letting me get to the computer and not have the books. I actually made a motion on that, that was a problem. I can't sign my rights away .... Because I stated last week that I'm demanding to be able to defend myself under the offices of the Sixth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, okay. I cannot hand my rights to anybody, unless I see what they're going to be doing. The State's current definition of

representation is having a State appointed attorney basically for 90 some percent of the people. Without any ... say as to how the defense goes. When I requested in both circumstances for certain evidence, that was in my favor to be sought, I was told no by the public defenders, which is contrary to my defense. It's in the State's favor, it's not in mine, so they – they're not working for me.

15RP 3-6. After some discussion regarding plea negotiations,
Del Duca returned to the topic of the waiver of counsel, saying that
"I'm still standing on my premise that I'm – I have to defend myself."

15RP 7. Del Duca then explained, in uncertain terms, his
understanding of the constitutional history of this issue in
Washington. Id. The court and Del Duca spent some more time
talking about the written form that had been prepared. Id. at 10-11.
The court asked Del Duca whether the form accurately represented
everything that they had discussed and, if so, whether he was
willing to sign it.

Δ: "Well, I can't sign a waiver of my right –

Court: That's why I changed the language.

Δ: Yeah. Because what I need, and what I've needed from the beginning is someone to assist me to address the issues.

Court: Right. So, I have denied your request to have a different lawyer, and –

 $\Lambda$ : He refuses to.

Court: -- and I understand that that is your belief. Given that, is it your desire to represent yourself?

Court: Okay.

Under the offices of the Sixth Amendment of the U.S.
 Constitution, yes. ... But now in signing this, it'll be under duress, because –

Court: Well, I can't have you sign it under duress, Mr. Del Duca.

 Yeah, because like I don't believe in signing a waiver of a person's rights –

Court: Okay. We're not going to have you sign it then. Let me – hand it back up to me please, Ms. Miyamasu, and we'll add some additional language and I will sign it. Okay, hang on just a second. ...

So, I will be entering an order along this line. We'll provide you a copy, I'm going to change the language, because it says things like I understand this, I understand that, I've gone over all of this with you, I will enter an order indicating what I think happened. And send you a copy, and then you'll have an opportunity to address the Court if you disagree with what it says.

Okay. So having done that, I am making a determination that Mr. Del Duca has knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily chosen to represent himself, given the choice of being represented by the Court appointed attorney, or representing himself. And that he's competent, and I'm going to permit him to exercise his constitutional right to do so, given that he won't work with the attorney that the Court has appointed.

And I have determined that the current attorney, Mr. Ewers, is appropriate and the reasons given from

Mr. Del Duca to discharge him, I am rejecting. So, I am going to allow you to represent yourself, Mr. Del Duca. ...

15RP 11-13 (emphasis added).

The court told the parties that it would make some changes to the order and then file it. Unfortunately, the order does not appear to have been filed in the superior court file until belowsigned counsel contacted the court this spring and asked the court to check whether it had the order. Supp. CP \_\_\_\_ (Sub No. 244A ORDER ON DEFENDANT'S REQUEST TO REPRESENT HIMSELF/DISCHARGE COUNSEL/FORFEITURE) (Appendix C).

#### D. ARGUMENT

A defendant who refuses to cooperate with appointed counsel, but who also refuses to unequivocally waive counsel, and who portrays himself as "forced" to "involuntarily" represent himself, presents trial courts with a dilemma. If the court too quickly allows the defendant to proceed without counsel when the defendant is dissatisfied with his appointed lawyer, it risks that an appellate court will deem the waiver equivocal. On the other hand, if the court forces the defendant (and his lawyer) to work together at trial, it risks a holding on appeal that the defendant was deprived of his

right to represent himself. This dilemma is more perceived than real, as the Washington Supreme Court held twenty-five years ago that a defendant who claims he is "forced" into a difficult choice to represent himself is not equivocating in the constitutional sense, and that such a waiver is voluntary.

The trial court in this case showed greater patience than Job as Del Duca repeatedly voiced the same complaints for two years about multiple appointed lawyers, until it became clear to Del Duca that he was not going to find a lawyer who would present the frivolous motions he wanted, and he asked to represent himself.

Although the trial court was very reluctant to accept a waiver of counsel where Del Duca was professing the waiver to be "involuntary," the court eventually, and correctly, ruled that Del Duca's repeated failures to work with counsel, and his refusal to work with Ewers, constituted a waiver of his right to counsel.

1. DEL DUCA EXPRESSLY CHOSE TO REPRESENT HIMSELF AND THAT DECISION WAS MADE VOLUNTARILY.

Del Duca argues that the trial court erred by ruling that he had forfeited his right to counsel, because forfeiture can be shown only under extreme circumstances not present in this case. His

argument should be rejected. The trial court expressly ruled that Del Duca had knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to counsel, even if he did so reluctantly. Although the trial court also ruled that Del Duca had forfeited his rights, that ruling does not undercut the trial court's correct ruling that counsel had been voluntarily waived.

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